
City of Sutherlin 

Planning Commission Meeting 

Tuesday, December 20, 2016 

7:00 p.m. – Sutherlin Civic Auditorium 
 

Agenda 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Introduction of Media 

 

Approval of Minutes 

 October 18, 2016 - Regular Meeting 

 October 18, 2016 - Workshop 

 

Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing(s) 

 

1. HOUDE LIVING TRUST, request for a 21-lot subdivision to be developed in two 

phases, and a Class C variance to road standards to extend the length of the 
dead end street on a 5.40 acre parcel, which is located on the west side of N. 
Comstock Rd, south of W. Sixth Street and across from the intersection with 
Robinson Street in the City of Sutherlin.  The subject property is described as 
Tax Lot 800 in Section 18, T25S, R5W, W.M.; Property I.D. No(s). R21776.  The 
property is designated Medium Density Residential by the Sutherlin 
Comprehensive Plan and zoned (R-2) Medium Density Residential. A portion of 
the subject property contains identified wetlands. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
FILE NO. 16-S014. 

 

Legislative Public Hearing(s) 
 
1. Legislative Amendments to the text of the Sutherlin Development Code (SDC) 

include several general revisions to update and/or streamline the code to make 

it more effective; add a new mixed use zoning district to address mixed use 
development in the (C-3) Community Commercial and (M-1) Light Industrial 
zoning districts; and update the City’s sign code language. 

 

Monthly Activity Report(s) 

 

Public Comment 

 

Commission Comments 

 

Adjournment 
 



 

Planning Commission Meeting of October 18, 2016 Page 1 

 

CITY OF SUTHERLIN 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING  

CIVIC AUDITORIUM – 7PM 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2016 

 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  Mike Flick, Patricia Klassen, William Lee, John Lusby, Adam Sarnoski  
and Michelle Sumner  
COMMISSION MEMBERS EXCUSED:  Floyd Van Sickle 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:  None 
CITY STAFF:   Brian Elliott, Community Development Director and Kristi Gilbert, Community Development 
Specialist 
AUDIENCE:  John Klassen 
 
Meeting called to order at 7:00 pm by Chair Lusby. 
 
FLAG SALUTE 
INTRODUCTION OF MEDIA:  None 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A motion made by Commissioner Sumner to approve the minutes of the August 16, 2016 Planning 
Commission meeting and Workshop; second made by Commissioner Klassen.  
In favor:  Commissioners Flick, Klassen, Lee, Sumner, Sarnoski and Chair Lusby 
Opposed:  None 
Motion carried unanimously  
 

MONTHLY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Brian Elliott, Community Development Director, provided a report in an effort to keep the Planning 
Commission apprised of recent land use and other relevant activities.  (See Attached). 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT - None 
 
COMMISSION COMMENTS – Commissioner Sumner raised concerns regarding crosswalks, specifically in the 
vicinity of the Dollar General, located on the east side of Central Avenue.  She indicated that the closest 
crosswalks were a significant distance from the Dollar General and asked if the City could place one there.  
Discussion ensued regarding who’s responsibility it is to install the sidewalks and crosswalks.  It was noted that 
sidewalk improvements are development driven in the commercial areas by new commercial developments; 
therefore, developers install the sidewalks as part of their development.  Commissioner Klassen expressed a 
concern regarding the blunt ends of the sidewalks.  The City should request the developers to taper the 
sidewalk to eliminate tripping hazards.  Brian indicated that the Central Transfer of Authority (TOA) project will 
address ADA sidewalk compliance and crosswalk concerns.  The project will be scheduled in four phases next 
summer.  
 
ADJOURNMENT -  With no further business the meeting was adjourned at 7:17 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
____________________________                      
Kristi Gilbert 

                          
             APPROVED BY COMMISSION ON THE __      _____ DAY OF ___             ________, 2016.  
               
         __________________________________ 
         John Lusby, Commission Chair 



 

Planning Commission Workshop of October 18, 2016 Page 1 

 

CITY OF SUTHERLIN 
PLANNING COMMISSION WORKSHOP  

CIVIC AUDITORIUM – 7:17 PM 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2016 

 

COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  Mike Flick, Patricia Klassen, William Lee, John Lusby, Adam 
Sarnoski and Michelle Sumner  
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS EXCUSED:  Floyd VanSickle 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:   
 
CITY STAFF:   Brian Elliott, Community Development Director, and Kristi Gilbert, Community 
Development Specialist  
 
AUDIENCE: John Klassen 
 
DEVELOPMENT CODE AMENDMENTS WORKSHOP 
 
Kristi Gilbert, Community Development Specialist, reviewed with the Commission, the draft of 
proposed legislative amendments to the City’s Sutherlin Development Code.  The amendments 
include general revisions to update or streamline the code to make it more effective.   
 
Amendments include general miscellaneous revisions or additions to: Section 1.3 of Chapter 1, 
Definitions; adding back the Forestry Resource zone, which inadvertently had been removed from the 
Development Code when legislative amendments were completed previously in the 2007 updates.  
This will bring it consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; modify and/or clarify the list of permitted 
uses in the residential districts; modify turnaround requirements for dead-end streets to be consistent 
with the Uniform Fire Code; clarify that the property owner is one of those persons notified and can 
appeal an application; remove the requirement for posting notices of public hearings on property, 
unless required by state law; clarify time limits for phased development; provide for possible 
additional one-year extensions for tentative approvals of subdivisions and land partitions; lengthen 
approval period for property line adjustments to one year; modify minor modifications to a land use 
action are reviewed as a Type I procedure; simplify language for criteria of Section 5.2.110.A for 
approval of a Class A variance; add text to enable the City Manager to make minor text corrections to 
the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning and Subdivisions Ordinances and Transportation Plan; plus several 
other minor text corrections to clarify or update referenced citations, standards, criteria and/or 
procedures.  An addition of a new mixed use zoning district to address mixed use development in the 
(C-3) Community Commercial and (M-1) Light Industrial zoning districts; and update the City’s sign 
code language.    
 
Discussion ensued regarding whether business license requirements could be added to the 
Development Code.  Staff’s understanding was that the City Council was opposed to the idea 
previously; however, staff would share their recommendation with the City Council.  The Planning 
Commission then requested staff to recommend to the City Council a business license registration for 
the City, by consensus. 
 
With no further discussion, it was the consensus of the Planning Commission, to move forward with 
notifications for a public hearing of the proposed amendments to the Sutherlin Development Code.  



 

Planning Commission Workshop of October 18, 2016 Page 2 

 

The public hearing will be scheduled before the Planning Commission at their next regularly meeting 
on December 20, 2016. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
With no further business the workshop was adjourned at 8:07 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
____________________________                      
Kristi Gilbert 
                            
             APPROVED BY COMMISSION ON THE __      _____ DAY OF ___             ________, 2016. 
         
               
        _________________________________ 
        John Lusby, Commission Vice-Chair 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 1 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

             

               City of Sutherlin 
 
 
         December 13, 2016 
 
 
STAFF REPORT 
 
TO:  Sutherlin Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Lisa Hawley, Community Services Planner 
 
RE:   HOUDE LIVING TRUST, request for a 21-lot subdivision to be developed in 

two phases, and a Class C variance to road standards to extend the length of the 
dead end street on a 5.40 acre parcel, which is located on the west side of N. 
Comstock Rd, south of W. Sixth Street and across from the intersection with 
Robinson Street in the City of Sutherlin.  The subject property is described as Tax 
Lot 800 in Section 18, T25S, R5W, W.M.; Property I.D. No(s). R21776.  The 
property is designated Medium Density Residential by the Sutherlin 
Comprehensive Plan and zoned (R-2) Medium Density Residential. A portion of 
the subject property contains identified wetlands. PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
FILE NO. 16-S014. 

 
STAFF EXHIBITS 

1. Notice of Public Hearing with affidavit of mailing 

2. Legal Notice for the News Review 

3. Property Owners within 100 Feet 

4. Staff Report with Responses Attached and affidavit of mailing 

5. Subdivision and Variance applications and attachments 

6. Vicinity Map 

7. Assessor Maps 

8. Sutherlin Comprehensive Plan Map 

9. City Zoning Map 

10. Aerial Photograph 

11. Situs Map 
  

Community Development 
126 E. Central Avenue 
Sutherlin, OR   97479 

(541) 459-2856 
Fax (541) 459-9363 

www.ci.sutherlin.or.us 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 2 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The applicant, Houde Living Trust, is requesting a 21-lot subdivision to be developed in two 
phases, and a Class C variance to road standards to extend the length of the proposed dead end 
street on a 5.40 acre parcel.   
 
The subject property is located on the west side of N. Comstock Rd, south of W. Sixth Street and 
across from the intersection with Robinson Street in the City of Sutherlin.  It is described as Tax 
Lot 800 in Section 18, T25S, R5W, W.M.; Property I.D. No(s). R21776.  A portion of the subject 
property contains identified wetlands.  There are no structures located on the property.   
 
The subject property is designated Medium Density Residential by the Sutherlin Comprehensive 
Plan and zoned (R-2) Medium Density Residential by the Sutherlin Development Code.  It is 
located in an area of mixed residential and commercial properties.  Adjacent properties to the 
north and south are zoned R-2.  The property immediately to the north is developed with an 
existing mobile home park, while the property to the south is developed with a Catholic church.  
Properties to the east across N. Comstock are zoned RH, R-1 and R-2 and developed with mixed 
residential uses. The adjacent properties to the west and southwest along Myrtle Street are zoned 
(C-3) General Commercial.  Located about 300± feet to the north is West Intermediate 
Elementary School.   
 
The application is being processed as a Type III procedure for a subdivision and a Class C 
variance to road standards.  As part of the hearing, the Planning Commission will review the 
applicant’s request for compliance with the applicable provisions of the Sutherlin 
Comprehensive Plan, Chapter 2, Section 2.2 (R-2 zone), Chapter 3 (Design Standards) and 
Chapter 4, Section 4.4 (Land Divisions), and Chapter 5, Section 5.2.130 (Class C Variances) of 
the Sutherlin Development Code.   
 
During the public hearing on December 20, 2016, the Planning Commission will accept public 
testimony and make a decision on the application after the public hearing. Upon rendering a 
decision, the Planning Commission must make a written Findings of Fact and Decision 
document, which justifies its decision.   
 
PROCEDURAL FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. The Subdivision and Variance applications were deemed complete by the City on 

November 16, 2016.  All applicable application fees were paid to the City.   
 

2. Pursuant to Section 4.2.140.C of the Sutherlin Development Code, notice of the public 
hearing was given by publication in the News Review on December 6, 2016, which was 
at least fourteen (14) days prior to the date of the public hearing.  
 

3. Notice of a Public Hearing for the Subdivision and Variance before the Planning 
Commission was given in accordance with Section 4.2.140.C.  Notice was sent to 
affected property owners of record within 100 feet of the subject property, service 
providers, and governmental agencies on November 29, 2016.   
 
a. John McDonald, Development Review Planner, ODOT Southwestern Region, 

stated that ODOT has no comments on the proposed subdivision.   



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 3 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

b. Cody Smith, Douglas County Public Works (DCPW), commented in part as 
follows: 

 
The subject property is located on the west side of N Comstock Road 
(County Road #154), south of W Sixth St and across from the intersection 
with Robinson St.  Douglas County will be constructing the N Comstock 
Rd: W Central Ave to Laurel Ave project (“County Project”) in 2017; 
pursuant to County Agreement #2016-0826, City will accept jurisdiction 
of N Comstock Rd within County Project limits upon completion of County 
Project.  The proposed subdivision is located within County Project limits.   
 
DCPW requests that the City require applicant to dedicate right of way to 
City as required for County Project as a condition of application 
approval.  It is our understanding that this condition has already been 
discussed with the applicant, that the applicant is aware of the boundary 
of the necessary dedication, and that the applicant is agreeable to this 
condition provided that DCPW constructs the street connection to N 
Comstock Rd as shown on applicant’s exhibit.  DCPW is agreeable to 
constructing the street connection as part of County Project and may 
prepare a written agreement with applicant subject to dedication 
requirement.  Additionally, DCPW requests that the City require as a 
condition of application approval that all underground utility connections 
and service lateral installations within N Comstock be made prior to 
completion of County Project.   
 
● Conditions of approval for the proposed development will require the 

dedication of any additional right-of-way for the pending County project 
and the requirement that all underground utility connections and service 
lateral installations within N Comstock be made prior to completion of 
road project. 

 
c.  At the time of the mailing of this staff report, no other written comments or 

remonstrances have been received. 
 

4. Present Situation: The subject property is currently vacant and undeveloped.  
 

5. Plan Designation: Medium Density Residential.   
 
6. Zone Designation: Medium Density Residential (R-2).  

 
7. Public Water: The subject property has access to public water from the City of Sutherlin 

along N. Comstock Rd.  Public water will have to be extended to accommodate the 
development of the site.   
 

8. Sanitary Sewer: The subject property has access to sanitary sewer from the City of 
Sutherlin along N. Comstock Rd.  Sanitary sewer will have to be extended to 
accommodate the development of the site.   
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 4 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

9. Transportation System:  N. Comstock Road (County Road No. 154) is designated a 
Necessary Local Road under the City’s Transportation System Plan, and is currently 
under County jurisdiction.   
 

10. Transportation Connectivity: The subject 5.40 acre property is currently vacant and 
undeveloped.  Under the City’s TSP, a planned collector street was originally proposed 
through the subject property to help connect Myrtle Rd to W. Sixth Ave.  However, the 
2009 IAMP for Exit 136 provided an alternate access road that will connect Myrtle Rd to 
N. Comstock Rd.  With this development and the alternate provisions outlined in the 
IAMP, the proposed dead-end street will no longer provide connectivity to Myrtle Rd.  
 

11. Pedestrian & Bicycle Access: N Comstock Rd is a designated bicycle and pedestrian way 
under the Transportation System Plan.   
 

12. Overlay:  The subject property is not located within the 100 year flood plain. 
 
FINDING:   The procedural findings noted above are adequate to support the Planning 
Commission’s recommendation on the requested Subdivision and Variance.   
 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 
1. Residential Zone District, Medium Density Residential, R-2 Zone (Section 2.2.100):     

 
a. The subject 5.40 acre parcel is vacant of structures, and is zoned (R-2) Medium 

Density Residential.  The minimum lot area is 6,000 sq.ft. for a single family non-
attached lot, with a minimum lot width at frontage 50 feet for a standard lot and 
20 feet for a flag lot, and a minimum lot depth of 90 feet where there is no alley 
right-of-way.  The maximum lot coverage for development is 60 percent, with a 
minimum dwelling unit size of 1,000 sq.ft.   

 
2. FINDINGS:   

 
a. As proposed, the City finds: 

 
i. The applicant is proposing a 21-lot, two phased subdivision (Comstock 

Subdivision).  Phase 1 will consist of 9 lots, with an average lot size of 
8,758± sq.ft.  With the exception of Lot 1, which is larger due to some 
existing wetlands, the other lots average 7,655± sq.ft. in size with a lot 
width frontage of at least 70± feet.  Phase 2 will consist of 12 lots, with an 
average lot size of 8,214± sq.ft., with a lot width frontage of at least 70± 
feet, except in the cul-de-sac where the lot frontage ranges from 30± feet 
to 63± feet. 

 
b. The applicant will be advised that at the time of a new building proposal for each 

parcel, compliance with the setbacks and lot coverage standards of the R-2 zone 
will be required.   

 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 5 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

DESIGN STANDARDS 
 
3. Design Standards  

a. 3.2.100    Vehicular Access and Circulation 
b. 3.5.100    Infrastructure Standards 
 

4. The access to each proposed parcel will be via N. Comstock Rd, an existing necessary 
local street, thence via the new extension of Robinson Street.  Each proposed lot will 
have direct access onto Robinson Street.  No lots are proposed to access onto N. 
Comstock Rd.      
 
Section 3.2   Vehicle Access and Circulation 
 
Applicability.  All development in the city must comply with the provisions of chapter 3, 
Design Standards.  Development projects requiring land division, conditional use permit, 
and/or site design review approval require detailed findings demonstrating compliance 
with each section of chapter 3, as applicable.  For smaller, less complex projects, fewer 
code provisions may apply and detailed findings may not be required where no 
discretionary land use or development permit decision is made.  
 
3.2.110    Vehicular Access and Circulation.   This section is intended to manage vehicle 
access to development through a connected street system with shared driveways, where 
practicable, and circulation systems that allow multiple transportation modes and 
technology, while preserving the flow of traffic in terms of safety, roadway capacity, and 
efficiency. This section applies to all public roads, streets, and alleys within the city and 
to all properties abutting them. 
 

C.  Access Permit Required.  Access to a public street requires an access 
permit in accordance with the following procedures: 

 
1. Permits for access to City streets shall be subject to review and approval 

by city staff based on the standards contained in this section, and the 
provisions of section 3.5, Infrastructure Standards.  Access permit 
applications are available at Sutherlin City Hall. 

 
2. Permits for access to state highways shall be subject to review and 

approval by Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) except when 
ODOT has delegated this responsibility to the city.  The city will 
coordinate with ODOT on such permits as necessary. 

 
3. Permits for access to county highways shall be subject to review and 

approval by Douglas County.  The city will coordinate with the county on 
such permits as necessary. 

 
FINDING:   Upon completion of the subdivision, Robinson Street will be a local 
residential street.  Access to the individual lots will need to be coordinated with the City 
for review and approval to ensure access locations meet access separation and other 
applicable city standards.  



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 6 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

D. Traffic Study Requirements.  The city or other agency with access 
jurisdiction may require a traffic study prepared by a traffic engineer to 
determine access, circulation and other transportation requirements.  (See also, 
section 3.5, Infrastructure.) 

 
FINDING:  A traffic study is not required for the subdivision proposal since there will 
only be minor traffic impacts on area streets with the potential for only 21 single family 
dwellings.   
 

E. Conditions of Approval.  The city or other agency with access permit 
jurisdiction may require the closing or consolidation of existing curb cuts or other 
vehicle access points, recording of reciprocal access easements (i.e., for shared 
driveways), development of a frontage street, installation of traffic control 
devices, and/or other mitigation as a condition of granting an access permit, to 
ensure the safe, functional, and efficient operation of the street and highway 
system. 

 
FINDING:   The proposed development is not expected to require closing any existing 
curb cuts along N. Comstock Rd.  During the summer of 2017, N. Comstock Rd will be 
improved from W. Central Ave north to Laurel Avenue.  The frontage of the subject 
property will be improved as part of that project.  The applicant will be required to 
dedicate additional right-of-way to help facilitate those improvements.  The proposed 
subdivision lots will all have frontage onto the new subdivision street (Robinson Street) 
and will not access directly onto N. Comstock Rd.   
 

F. Backing Movement.  Vehicle access to and from off-street parking areas, 
except for access to and from residential developments with one (1) or two (2) 
dwellings, shall not involve backing onto a public street. 

 
FINDING:  The proposed lots are for single family homes; therefore, the back-up access 
restrictions, as described in the above standard, are not required. 
 

G. Access Standards and Options.  When vehicle access is required for 
development (i.e., for off-street parking, delivery, service, drive-through facilities, 
etc.), access shall be provided by one of the following methods (a minimum of ten 
(10) feet per lane is required). These methods are “options” to the 
developer/subdivider, unless one method is specifically required by the city as a 
condition of approval. 

 
1. Option 1.  Access is from an existing or proposed alley or mid-
block lane.  If a property has access to an alley or lane, direct access to a 
public street is not permitted. 
2. Option 2.  Access is from a private street or driveway developed to 
city standards and connected to an adjoining property that has direct 
access to a public street (i.e., “shared driveway”).  A joint maintenance 
agreement and reciprocal access easement covering the driveway shall be 
recorded in this case to assure access to the closest public street for all 
users of the private street/drive.  The city may approve a private street 
under this option by a planned unit development (PUD), provided that 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 7 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

public funds shall not be used to construct or maintain a private road, 
street, or drive.  The city may require a public access easement as needed 
for emergency response access or refuse access. 
3. Option 3.  Access is from a public street adjacent to the 
development parcel.  If practicable, the owner/developer may be required 
to close or consolidate an existing access point as a condition of 
approving a new access if the site abuts an arterial or collector street.  
Street accesses shall comply with the access spacing standards in 
subsection I, below. 
4. Subdivisions Fronting Onto an Arterial Street.  Subdivision lots 
fronting onto an arterial street shall not receive access onto the arterial 
street, except when alternate access (i.e., alleys or secondary streets) 
cannot be provided due to topographic or other physical constraints.  In 
such cases, the city may require that access be provided by consolidating 
driveways for clusters of two (2) or more lots or for multiple buildings on 
a lot (e.g., includes flag lots and mid-block lanes). 
5. Double-Frontage Lots.  When a lot has frontage onto two (2) or 
more streets, access shall be provided first from the street with the lowest 
classification.  For example, access shall be provided from a local street 
before a collector or arterial street.  A second access may be permitted 
only as necessary to accommodate projected traffic volumes.  Except for 
corner lots, the creation of new double-frontage lots shall be prohibited in 
the residential district, unless topographic or physical constraints require 
the formation of such lots.  When a fence or wall is built adjacent to the 
street in this case, a landscape buffer with trees and/or shrubs and ground 
cover not less than ten (10) feet wide shall be provided between the 
fence/wall and the sidewalk or street; maintenance shall be assured by the 
owner (i.e., through homeowner’s association, etc.). 
6. Important Cross-References to Other Code Sections.  Section 3.6 
requires that buildings be placed at or near the front property line in some 
zones, and driveways and parking areas be oriented to the side or rear 
yard for multiple family and commercial uses. Section 3.5.110 contains 
private street standards.  

 
FINDING:  The proposed 21 lots will each access onto the new City street, as outlined 
above in Option 3.  Upon completion of this development, the proposed street will be 
dedicated to the City of Sutherlin as a public street and will be incorporated into the 
City’s street maintenance system. The development does not front onto an arterial street 
and no double-frontage lots are proposed. Future residential development of a single 
family dwelling on each proposed lot will require off-street parking in accordance with 
residential standards.  Each parcel will have access to a public residential street via an 
individual driveway.  Any shared driveways will require compliance with the applicable 
driveway standards, including the 25 foot access separation between driveways, and any 
necessary reciprocal access easement(s), to insure access to the proposed Robinson 
Street. 
 

H. New Street.  The City may require the dedication of public right-of-way 
and construction of a street (e.g., frontage road, alley or other street) when 
access cannot otherwise be provided from an existing street, in conformance with 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 8 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

city standards.  The city considers the development impact in considering whether 
a new street is needed.  See also Section 3.5 Infrastructure Standards. 

 
FINDING:   The City finds the proposed subdivision to create 21 lots, to be developed in 
two phases, will necessitate the construction of a public street and the dedication of 
public right-of-way, in conformance with the city’s residential street standards (for the 
new Robinson Street). In addition, the applicant/property owners will also be required to 
dedicate a portion of right-of-way along the frontage of N. Comstock Rd to the City, in 
conjunction with the County’s concurrent upgrade of N. Comstock in summer 2017. As 
stated previously in comments provided by Douglas County Public Works (DCPW), 
DCPW is planning to construct the street connection for Robinson Street as part of the 
County project.  In addition, DCPW also requested that the conditions of approval require 
all underground utility connections and service lateral installations within N Comstock be 
made prior to completion of County Project.   
 
FINDING:  The City finds that the requirement for the applicant to dedicate right-of-way 
to the City along the frontage of the subject property on the west of N. Comstock is 
roughly proportional to the impact of the proposed development.  The applicant/property 
owner is proposing the development of the 21-lot subdivision that will provide an ADT 
(Average Daily Traffic) of 210 vehicle trips per day onto the public street and onto the 
City road system.   In addition, the City finds that the applicant/property owners will also 
benefit from the planned County project to improve and upgrade N. Comstock Rd, which 
includes pedestrian sidewalks and bicycle ways, to County/City standards.    
 

I. Access Spacing.  Driveway accesses shall be separated from other 
driveways and street intersections in accordance with the following standards and 
procedures: 
 

1. Local Streets.  A minimum of twenty-five (25) feet separation (as 
measured from the sides of the driveway/street) shall be required on local 
streets (i.e., streets not designated as collectors or arterials.  
2. Arterial and Collector Streets.  Access spacing on collector and 
arterial streets, and at controlled intersections (i.e., with four-way stop 
sign or traffic signal) shall be determined based on the policies and 
standards contained in the city’s transportation system plan. 
3. Special Provisions for All Streets.  Direct street access may be 
restricted for some land use types.  For example, access consolidation, 
shared access, and/or access separation greater than that specified by 
Subsections 1-2, may be required by the city, county or ODOT for the 
purpose of protecting the function, safety and operation of the street for 
all users. Where no other alternatives exist, the permitting agency may 
allow construction of an access connection along the property line farthest 
from an intersection.  In such cases, directional connections (i.e., right 
in/out, right in only, or right out only) may be required. 

 
FINDING:  Each parcel will have access to Robinson Street via an individual driveway. 
Any shared driveways will require compliance with the applicable driveway standards, 
including the 25 foot access separation between driveways, and any necessary reciprocal 
access easement(s), to insure access to the proposed Robinson Street.  



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 9 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

J. Number of Access Points.  For single-family (detached and attached), two 
(2) family, and three (3) family housing types, one (1) street access point is 
permitted per lot; except that two (2) access points may be permitted for two (2) 
family and three (3) family housing on corner lots (i.e., no more than one (1) 
access per street), subject to the access spacing standards in subsection I, above.  
The number of street access points for multiple family, commercial, industrial, 
and public/institutional developments shall be minimized to protect the function, 
safety and operation of the street(s) and sidewalk(s) for all users.  Shared access 
may be required, in conformance with section K, below, in order to maintain the 
required access spacing, and minimize the number of access points. 

 
FINDING:  As proposed, the applicant proposes a maximum of 21 individual access 
points onto the new City residential street.  Shared driveways may be required, as 
necessary, to ensure the required 25 foot driveway separation is maintained between 
driveways.   
 

K. Shared Driveways.  The number of driveways intersecting a public street 
shall be minimized by the use of shared driveways on adjoining lots where 
feasible.  The city may require shared driveways as a condition of land division or 
site plan review, as applicable, for traffic safety and access management purposes 
in accordance with the following standards: 
 

1. Shared driveways and frontage streets may be required to 
consolidate access onto a collector or arterial street.  When shared 
driveways or frontage streets are required, they shall be stubbed to 
adjacent developable parcels to indicate future extension.  “Stub” means 
that a driveway or street temporarily ends at the property line, but may be 
extended in the future as the adjacent parcel develops.   “Developable” 
means that a parcel is either vacant or it is likely to receive additional 
development (i.e., due to infill or redevelopment potential). 
 
2. Access easements and joint maintenance agreements (i.e., for the 
benefit of affected properties) shall be recorded for all shared driveways, 
including any pathways and landscaping along such driveways, at the 
time of final plat approval (section 4.4) or as a condition of site 
development approval (Section 4.3). 
 

FINDING:  A stub of the new City street will not be required with this development. A 
temporary fire turn around will be installed with Phase 1 of the development.  
Completion of Phase 2 will result in a circular cul-de-sac at the end of the street.  Each 
parcel will have access to Robinson Street via an individual driveway. Any shared 
driveways will require compliance with the applicable driveway standards, including the 
25 foot access separation between driveways, and any necessary reciprocal access 
easement(s), to insure access to the proposed Robinson Street. 
 

L. Street Connectivity and Formation of Blocks Required.  In order to 
promote efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation throughout the city, land 
divisions and large site developments shall produce complete blocks bounded by 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 10 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

a connecting network of public and/or private streets, in accordance with the 
following standards: 

1. Block Length and Perimeter.  The maximum block length and 
perimeter, measured along the property/right-of-way line, shall not 
exceed: 

a. Residential Zoning.  Six hundred (600) feet length and one 
thousand eight hundred (1,800) feet perimeter unless the previous 
adjacent layout or topographical conditions justify a variation; 
b. C-1 Zoning.  Four hundred (400) feet length and one 
thousand four hundred (1,400) feet perimeter; 
c. C-3 Zoning.  Six hundred (600) feet length only. 
d. Industrial Zoning.  No Standard. 

Figure 3.2.110L Street Connectivity and Formation of Blocks 
2. Exception.  Exceptions to standards in subsection L1 may be 
granted when blocks are divided by one or more pathway(s), in 
conformance with the provisions of section 3.2.120.A.  Pathways shall be 
located to minimize out-of-direction travel by pedestrians and may be 
designed to accommodate bicycles. 

 
FINDING:  This standard does not apply to the proposed subdivision since the subject 
parcel is  not large enough to create a new block or area-wide pedestrian circulation.  In 
addition, the residential area to the north and east is already physically developed and 
does not provide for additional street connectivity to surrounding streets. 
 

M. Driveway Openings. Driveway openings shall be the minimum width 
necessary to provide the required number of vehicle travel lanes (ten (10) feet for 
each travel lane).  The following standards (i.e., as measured where the front 
property line meets the sidewalk or right-of-way) are required to provide 
adequate site access, minimize surface water runoff, and avoid conflicts between 
vehicles and pedestrians: 

1. Single family, two (2) family, and three (3) family uses shall have a 
minimum driveway width of ten (10) feet, and a maximum width of twenty-
four (24) feet, except that one (1) recreational vehicle pad driveway may 
be provided in addition to the standard driveway for lots containing more 
than seven thousand (7,000) square feet of area…. 

 
FINDNG:  As proposed, each proposed lot will access directly onto the new residential 
street.  Shared driveways may be required, as necessary, to ensure the required 25 foot 
driveway separation is maintained.   
 

N. Fire Access and Parking Area Turn-Arounds.  A fire equipment access 
drive shall be provided for any portion of an exterior wall of the first story of a 
building that is located more than one hundred fifty (150) feet from an existing 
public street or approved fire equipment access drive.  Parking areas shall 
provide adequate aisles or turn-around areas for service and delivery vehicles so 
that all vehicles may enter the street in a forward manner. 

 
FINDING:   As part of this request, the applicant has coordinated with the City Fire 
Department and the State Fire Marshall on the proposed dead-end street.  The proposed 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 11 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

street will exceed the maximum length allowed under the Oregon Uniform Fire Code and 
the Sutherlin Development Code.  The applicant is requesting a Variance to road 
standards to permit a longer dead-end street that will comply with fire access codes. The 
circular turnaround (cul-de-sac) will have a 40’ radius, with no on-street side parking 
permitted in the cul-de-sac.  The findings on the requested Class C variance are addressed 
later in this report.   
 

O. Vertical Clearances.  Driveways, private streets, aisles, turn-around areas 
and ramps shall have a minimum vertical clearance of thirteen (13) feet six (6) 
inches for their entire length and width. 

 
FINDING:   For any existing trees within the development that will be located in areas of 
proposed driveways, aisles or turn-around areas, the minimum vertical clearance will 
have to be maintained. 
 

P. Vision Clearance.  No signs, structures or vegetation in excess of three (3) 
feet in height shall be placed in “vision clearance areas”, as shown in figure 
3.2.110P.  The minimum required vision clearance area may be increased by the 
city upon finding that more sight distance is required (i.e., due to traffic speeds, 
roadway alignment, etc.). 

 
FINDING: Future residential development will require compliance with the applicable 
vision clearance standards, in particular for Lots 1 and 6, which will front onto N. 
Comstock Rd.   
 

Q. Flag Lots. Flag lots may be created where the configuration of a parcel 
does not allow for standard width lots.  A flag pole access drive may serve no 
more than two (2) dwelling units, including accessory dwellings and dwellings on 
individual lots.  A drive serving more than one lot shall conform to the standards 
in subsections 1-4 below:  

 
1. Driveway and Lane width of all shared drives and lanes shall be 
twenty (20) feet of pavement with a minimum lot frontage width of twenty-
five (25) feet wide throughout the driveway; 
2. Easement.  Where more than one (1) lot is to receive access from a 
flag pole drive, the owner shall record an easement granting access to all 
lots that are to receive access. The easement shall be so indicated on the 
preliminary plat; 
3. Maximum Drive Lane Length.  The maximum drive lane length is 
subject to requirements of the uniform fire code, but shall not exceed one 
hundred fifty (150) feet without an emergency turnaround approved by the 
city; and 
4. Area Calculation.  The flag pole portion of a lot shall not be 
counted for the purpose of meeting lot area requirements or determining 
setbacks. 

 
FINDING:   No flag lots are proposed with the requested subdivision.   
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 12 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

R. Construction.  The following standards shall apply to all driveways and 
private streets: 

1. Surface Options. Driveways, parking areas, aisles, and turn-
arounds shall be paved with asphalt, concrete or comparable surfacing; 
alternatively, a durable non-paving material such as pavers, or other 
materials approved by the city may be used to reduce surface water runoff 
and protect water quality. 
2. Surface Water Management.  When a paved surface is used, all 
driveways, parking areas, aisles and turn-arounds shall have on-site 
collection or infiltration of surface waters to minimize sheet flow of such 
waters onto public rights-of-way and abutting property.  Surface water 
facilities shall be constructed in conformance with city standards. 
3. Driveway Aprons.  When driveway approaches or “aprons” are 
required to connect driveways to the public right-of-way, they shall be 
constructed to city standards and paved with concrete surfacing. See 
subsection M, above.  

 
FINDING: Surface and storm water management will have to be addressed by the 
applicant as part of the design, engineering and construction of the new residential street. 
These design for construction of the improvements will have to be coordinated with City 
Public Works. Future single dwellings on each lot will be required to meet the standards 
for the surfacing of driveways and parking areas, and surface water management. 
  

5. INFRASTRUCTURE STANDARDS  
 
SECTION  3.5.100 Purpose and Applicability. 
 

A. Purpose.  This section provides planning and design standards for 
transportation, sewer, water, and storm drainage infrastructure.  
B. When Standards Apply.  All development shall be served with adequate 
infrastructure including transportation, sewer, water, and storm drainage, in 
conformance with this section and consistent with the City’s engineering design 
criteria. 
C. Standard Specifications.  The City of Sutherlin general engineering 
requirements and standard specifications for street, storm drain, sewer, and 
waterline construction are incorporated in this code by reference. 
 D. Conditions of Development Approval.  No development may occur unless 
required public infrastructure is in place or guaranteed, in conformance with the 
provisions of this code.  Improvements required as a condition of development 
approval, when not voluntarily accepted by the applicant, shall be roughly 
proportional to the impact of development.  Findings in the development approval 
shall indicate how the required improvements are roughly proportional to the 
impact. 

 
FINDING:  City sanitary sewer and water service are available to the lots from existing 
lines in N. Comstock Rd.  Utilities will be required to be extended underground from N. 
Comstock Rd.  The design for the installation of the utilities will have to be coordinated 
with City Public Works. 

 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 13 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

SECTION 3.5.110:  Transportation Standards.  
 

A. Purpose.  The purpose of this section is to implement the Transportation 
System Plan and protect the City’s investment in the public street system.  Upon 
dedication of streets to the public, the City accepts maintenance responsibility for 
the street.  Failure to meet City standards may place an undue maintenance 
burden on the public, which may be only marginally benefited by the street 
improvement.  Variances to street standards must be evaluated in this context. 
 
B. Development Standards. No development shall occur unless the 
development has frontage onto or approved access from a public street, in 
conformance with the provisions of section 3.2, Access and Circulation, and the 
applicable standards of Section 3.5.110.B are met.   

 
FINDING:   The proposed subdivision will create 21-lots that will each access directly 
onto a newly created public street (Robinson Street), which will be constructed as part of 
the development to meet or exceed City standards.  As proposed, the residential street 
will be constructed within 58’ of right-of-way and be comprised of two 13’ travel lanes, 
two 7’ parking lanes, two 6’ sidewalks, plus curbs and cut/fill slopes.  The preliminary 
plan, typical street section, shows two 5’ sidewalks.  Aaron Swan, City Public Works 
Superintendent, commented that the residential sidewalks will need to be increased to 6’.  
No additional right-of-way will be necessary to modify the sidewalk width.  As part of 
this request, the applicant is requesting a variance to road standards to extend the length 
of the dead-end street. Findings for the variance request are addressed later in this report   
 

C. Creation of Rights-of-Way for Streets and Related Purposes.  Streets 
shall be created through the approval and recording of a final subdivision or 
partition plat, or quit claim deed, provided that the street is deemed essential by 
the city for the purpose of implementing the comprehensive plan / transportation 
system plan, and the deeded right-of-way conforms to the standards of this code.  
All deeds of dedication shall be in a form prescribed by the city and shall name 
"the public," as grantee. 

 
FINDING:   The City finds that one new street will be created as part of this 
development, which will be completed in two phases.  Dedication of the street as public 
right-of-way will occur in conjunction with the recording of the final subdivision plat.  
The dedication of additional right-of-way is also being required in conjunction with the 
concurrent County road project improve and upgrade N. Comstock Rd, which is expected 
to occur in summer 2017.    
 

D. Creation of Access Easements. Access easements are only allowed with a 
private street or drive meeting city standards for one single family unit.  Access 
easements are discouraged in all residential districts, unless they are an integral 
part of a PUD, or required by the city for access management reasons (i.e., 
shared driveways along arterial streets).  The city may approve an access 
easement established by deed when the easement is necessary to provide for 
access and circulation in conformance with section 3.2.110 (K), Access and 
Circulation.  Access easements shall be created and maintained in accordance 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 14 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

with the uniform fire code, section 10.207, and shall be shown and described on 
any final subdivision or partition plat that requires them.   

 
FINDING:   The City finds that each parcel will have access to Robinson Street via an 
individual driveway.  If any shared driveways are proposed, they will require reciprocal 
access easement(s) and driveway maintenance agreement(s) between the affected parcels 
and be identified on the face of the final plat, in accordance with the above requirements.  
 

E. Street Location, Width and Grade.  Except as noted below, the location, 
width and grade of all streets shall conform to the transportation system plan, as 
applicable; and an approved street plan or subdivision plat.  Street location, 
width and grade shall be determined in relation to existing and planned streets, 
topographic conditions, public convenience and safety, and in appropriate 
relation to the proposed use of the land to be served by such streets: 

1. Street grades shall be approved by the city, in accordance with the 
design standards in subsection N, below; and 
2. Where the location of a street is not shown in an existing street 
plan (see subsection H), the location of streets in a development shall 
either: 
a. Provide for the continuation and connection of existing streets in 
the surrounding areas, conforming to the street standards of this section; 
or 
b. Conform to a street plan adopted by the city council, if it is 
impractical to connect with existing street patterns because of particular 
topographical or other existing conditions of the land.  Such a plan shall 
be based on the type of land use to be served, the volume of traffic, the 
capacity of adjoining streets and the need for public convenience and 
safety. 

 
FINDING:   N. Comstock Rd is planned for improvement and upgrading in summer 
2017 to bring the street up to County/City standards.  As part of that project, the 
applicant/property owner(s) will be required to dedicate additional right-of-way along the 
frontage of N. Comstock Rd to help facilitate the project.  The improvement of the 
proposed residential street (Robinson Street) will be required to meet City standards for 
street widths and improvement.  Based upon comments provided by County Public 
Works, conditions of approval for the proposed development will require that all 
underground utility connections and service lateral installations within N Comstock be 
made prior to completion of County road project. 
 

F. Minimum Rights-of-Way and Street Sections.  Street rights-of-way and 
improvements shall be the widths in Table 3.5.110.  A variance shall be required 
in conformance with section 5.2.110 to vary the standards in Table 3.5.110.  
Where a range of width is indicated, the width shall be determined by the 
decision-making authority based upon a variety of factors, as outlined in this 
section…. 

 
FINDING:   N Comstock Rd has an existing 60 foot right-of-way where it fronts the 
subject property.  As indicated by Douglas County Public Works, additional right-of-way 
will be required by the applicant/property owner(s) to facilitate the improvement and 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 15 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

upgrade of N Comstock Rd.  The new residential street (Robinson Street) will have a 58 
foot right-of-way width with parking on both sides, except within the cul-de-sac where no 
on-street side parking will be permitted.  The right-of-way is within the range for a local 
residential street width of 52 feet to 60 feet.  
 

H. Future Street Plan and Extension of Streets. 
1. The City shall require the submittal of a future street plan in 
conjunction with an application for a subdivision or partition when the 
subject request could affect development of the city’s future street system.  
The purpose of the future street plan is to facilitate orderly development of 
an interconnected street system, provide greater certainty to the city and 
neighboring property owners, and allow for future growth in conformance 
with the comprehensive plan and transportation system plan.  The plan 
shall show the pattern of existing and proposed future streets from the 
boundaries of the proposed land division and shall include other parcels 
within six hundred (600) feet surrounding and adjacent to the proposed 
land division.  The street plan is not binding; rather it is intended to show 
potential future street extensions with future development 
2. Streets shall be extended to the boundary lines of the parcel or 
tract to be developed, when the city determines that the extension is 
necessary to give street access to, or permit a satisfactory future division 
of, adjoining land.  Developers are encouraged to also install conduits for 
other utilities in coordination with those utilities.  The point where the 
streets temporarily end shall conform to a-c, below: 

a. These extended streets or street stubs to adjoining 
properties are not considered to be cul-de-sacs since they are 
intended to continue as through streets when the adjoining 
property is developed. 
b. A reflective barricade (e.g., fence, bollards, or similar 
vehicle barrier) shall be constructed at the end of the street by the 
partitioner or subdivider and shall not be removed until authorized 
by the city or other applicable agency with jurisdiction over the 
street.  The cost of the barricade shall be included in the street 
construction cost. 
c. Temporary turnarounds (e.g., hammerhead or bulb-shaped 
configuration) shall be constructed for stub streets over one 
hundred (150) feet in length. 

 
FINDING:  Under the City’s TSP, a planned collector street was originally proposed 
through the subject property to help connect Myrtle Rd to W. Sixth Ave.  However, the 
2009 IAMP (Interchange Area Management Plan) for Exit 136 provided an alternate 
access road that will connect Myrtle Rd to N. Comstock Rd.  With this development and 
the alternate provisions outlined in the IAMP, the proposed dead-end street will no longer 
provide connectivity to Myrtle Rd.  
 

I. Street Alignment and Connections. 
1. Staggering of streets making "T" intersections at collectors and 
arterials shall not be designed so that jogs of less than three hundred 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 16 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

(300) feet on such streets are created, as measured from the centerline of 
the intersecting streets.   
2. Spacing between local street intersections shall have a minimum 
separation of one hundred twenty-five (125) feet, except where more 
closely spaced intersections are designed to provide an open space, pocket 
park, common area or similar neighborhood amenity.  This standard 
applies to four-way and three-way (off-set) intersections. 
3. All local and collector streets that abut or stub to a development 
site shall be extended within the site to provide through circulation unless 
prevented by environmental or topographical constraints, existing 
development patterns or compliance with other standards in this Code.  
This exception applies when it is not possible to redesign or reconfigure 
the street pattern to provide required extensions.  Land is considered 
topographically constrained if the slope is greater than fifteen (15) 
percent for a distance of two hundred fifty (250) feet or more.  In the case 
of environmental or topographical constraints, the mere presence of a 
constraint is not sufficient to show that a street connection is not possible.  
The applicant must show why the environmental or topographic constraint 
precludes some reasonable street connection. 
4. Proposed streets or street extensions shall be located to provide 
direct access to existing or planned commercial services and other 
neighborhood facilities, such as schools, shopping areas and parks. 
5. In order to promote efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation 
throughout the city, the design of subdivisions and alignment of new 
streets shall conform to the following standards in chapter 3.2, Access and 
Circulation. The maximum block length shall not exceed: 
a. Residential districts – Six hundred (600) feet; . . . 

Exceptions to the standards in a-b may be granted when an access 
way is provided at or near mid-block, in conformance with the 
provisions of section 3.2.120A. 

 
FINDING:  The subject property is relatively level with gentle slopes to the east and 
southeast.  The City finds that the new proposed street will be designed to align with the 
existing intersection with Robinson Street to the east.  The applicant/property owners 
have applied for a variance to road standards to extend the length of the dead-end street to 
serve the proposed development.   
 

K. Intersection Angles.  Streets shall be laid out so as to intersect at an angle 
as near to a right angle as practicable, except where topography requires a lesser 
angle or where a reduced angle is necessary to provide an open space, pocket 
park, common area or similar neighborhood amenity.  In addition, the following 
standards shall apply: 

1. Streets shall have at least twenty-five (25) feet of tangent adjacent 
to the right-of-way intersection unless topography requires a lesser 
distance; 
2. Intersections which are not at right angles shall have a minimum 
corner radius of twenty (20) feet along the right-of-way lines of the acute 
angle; and 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 17 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

3. Right-of-way lines at intersection with arterial streets shall have a 
corner radius of not less than twenty (20) feet. 

 
FINDING:  As designed, the intersection of the proposed street will not be at a right 
angle with N. Comstock Rd, but has been designed to be more directly align with the 
existing intersection of Robinson Street.    
 

L. Existing Rights-of-Way.  Whenever existing rights-of-way adjacent to or 
within a tract are of less than standard width, additional rights-of-way shall be 
provided at the time of partition, subdivision, or development, subject to the 
provision of section 3.5.100.D. 
 

FINDING: As indicated previously, the applicant/property owners will be required to 
dedicate additional right-of-way to facilitate the pending improvement and upgrade of N 
Comstock Rd.  The exact amount of right-of-way to dedicated will vary, depending on 
the final alignment of the engineered project and the location of the street connection (for 
Robinson Street) that will be constructed as part of the County project.  The right-of-way 
for the proposed residential street is within the required street width (52’ to 60’).  
 

M. Cul-de-sacs.  A dead-end street shall be no more than four hundred (400) 
feet long, and shall only be used when open space (e.g., street ends at park or 
greenway), environmental, or topographical constraints; existing development 
patterns; or compliance with other standards in this code preclude street 
extension and through circulation.  Such dead-end-street shall conform to all of 
the following standards: 

1. The city may require a dead-end or cul-de-sac street to stub to the 
outer property line of the development when future street extension may be 
possible through redevelopment of an adjacent property (e.g., existing 
development on adjacent property could redevelop and allow extension in 
foreseeable future).  
2. All cul-de-sacs exceeding one hundred fifty (150) feet shall 
terminate with a circular or hammer-head turnaround.  Circular 
turnarounds shall have a radius of no less forty (40) feet (i.e., from center 
to edge of pavement); except that turnarounds may be larger when they 
contain a landscaped island or parking bay in their center.  When an 
island or parking bay is provided, there shall be a fire apparatus lane of 
twenty (20) feet in width; and 
3. The length of the cul-de-sac shall be measured along the centerline 
of the roadway from the near side of the intersecting street to the farthest 
point of the cul-de-sac. 

 
FINDING:   The length of the proposed dead-end street will exceed 400 feet. The 
applicant/property owner(s) have requested a variance to road standards to extend the 
length of the street and comply with fire department requirements.  As proposed, the 
street will be approximately 705 feet in length from its intersection with N. Comstock Rd  
to the west end of the cul-de-sac. The proposed turnaround will have a radius of forty 
(40) feet, which complies with the above standard, but does not comply with the Uniform 
Fire Code.  As part of the requested variance, the applicant is widening the required 
pavement from 34 feet to 40 feet for the main portion (650 foot) of the street to provide 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 18 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

two 13 foot travel lanes and two 7 foot parking lanes.  The applicant can provide an 80 
foot wide cul-de-sac so long as there is no on-street side parking, rolled or mountable 
curbs are provided, and no parking signs are posted as required by the Uniform Fire Code 
within the cul-de-sac itself.  Two fire hydrants are also required to be provided per the 
Fire Code.  Findings on the proposed variance are discussed later in this report. 
 

N. Grades and Curves.  Grades shall not exceed ten (10) percent on 
arterials, twelve (12) percent on collector streets, or twelve (12) percent on any 
other street (except that local or residential access streets may have segments 
with grades up to 15% for distances of no greater than 250 feet) when approved 
by the city engineer, and: 

1. Curb radii shall not be less than seven hundred (700) feet on 
arterials, five hundred (500) feet on major collectors, three hundred fifty 
(350) feet on minor collectors, or one hundred (100) feet on other streets; 
and 
2. Streets intersecting with a minor collector or greater functional 
classification street, or streets intended to be posted with a stop sign or 
signalization shall provide a landing averaging five percent or less.  
Landings are that portion of the street within twenty (20) feet of the edge 
of the intersecting street at full improvement. 

 
FINDING:  As designed for the request subdivision, the proposed street will have a 
maximum grade of approximately nine (9) percent, which will not exceed the grade and 
curve limitations outlined above.  
 

O. Curbs, Curb Cuts, Ramps, and Driveway Approaches.  Concrete curbs, 
curb cuts, wheelchair and bicycle ramps, and driveway approaches shall be 
constructed in accordance with standards specified in section 3.2 Access and 
Circulation. 

 
FINDING:  Construction of the future driveways accesses for each lot will be required to 
comply the applicable standards outlined above.  
 

P. Street Names.  No street name shall be used that duplicates or could be 
confused with the names of existing streets in the vicinity of the city, except for 
extensions of existing streets.  Street names, signs and numbers shall conform to 
the established pattern in the surrounding area, except as requested by emergency 
service providers.  Street names shall conform to section 12.24, as amended, of 
the Sutherlin Municipal Code. 

 
FINDING:   The applicant/property owner(s) proposes “Robinson Street” as the street 
name for the subdivision.  This street would appear to serve as an extension of the 
existing Robinson Street.  However, the City’s addressing standards would require this 
street to be named an “avenue”, since it runs east-west.  After consultation with Douglas 
County Addressing, the City finds that the street name, as proposed, would be too 
confusing for property owners and emergency services if changed to Robinson Avenue or 
Robinson Court, and should be given a completely different name.  The conditions of 
approval will require the applicant to propose an alternate street name prior to final 
approval of the subdivision, which shall be approved by the City.   



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 19 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

Q. Filed Street Survey and Survey Monuments Required.  Upon completion 
of a street improvement and prior to acceptance by the city, it shall be the 
responsibility of the developer's registered professional land surveyor to provide 
certification to the city that all boundary and interior monuments shall be 
reestablished and protected and required street survey(s) have been filed. 

 
FINDING:   The applicant/developer will have to comply with this section upon 
completion of the street improvements and prior to acceptance by the City.   
 

R. Street Signs.  The city, county or county with jurisdiction shall install all 
signs for traffic control and street names.  The cost of signs required for new 
development shall be the responsibility of the developer.  Street name signs shall 
be installed at all street intersections.  Stop signs and other signs may be 
required. 

 
FINDING:   Upon completion of the new street and prior to final approval of the 
subdivision plat, the new street sign(s) will be required as part of this subdivision request.     
 

S. Mail Boxes.  Plans for mail boxes to be used shall be approved by the 
United States Postal Service. 

 
FINDING:   Prior to final approval, mail boxes to be used for the development will be 
required to be approved by the U.S. Postal Service, as outlined above.  
 

T. Street Light Standards.  Street lights shall be installed in accordance with 
city standards. 

 
FINDING:   The preliminary subdivision plat indicate street lights will be installed.  Any 
required street lights shall be installed in accordance with City standards.   
 

U. Street Cross-Sections.  The final lift of asphalt or concrete pavement shall 
be placed on all new constructed public roadways prior to final city acceptance of 
the roadway. 

 
1. Sub-base and leveling course shall be of select crushed rock; 
2. Surface material shall be of Class C or B asphaltic concrete; 
3. The final lift shall be Class C asphaltic concrete as defined by 

A.P.W.A. standard specifications; and 
4. No lift shall be less than one and one half (1 ½) inches in 

thickness. 
 
FINDING:  The final plans and construction of the new residential street will require 
compliance with the above street cross-sections prior to final city acceptance of the 
roadway.   
 

  



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 20 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

6. SECTION 3.5.120 PUBLIC USE AREAS 
 

A. Dedication Requirements.   
1. Where a proposed park, open space, playground, public facility, or other 

public use shown in a plan adopted by the city is located in whole or in 
part in a partition or subdivision, the city may require the dedication or 
reservation of this area on the final plat for the partition or subdivision. 

2. If determined by the planning commission to be in the public interest in 
accordance with adopted comprehensive plan policies, and where an 
adopted plan of the city does not indicate proposed public use areas, the 
city may require the dedication or reservation of areas within the 
subdivision of a character, extent and location suitable for the 
development of parks and other public uses. 

3. All required dedications of public use areas shall conform to section 
3.5.100D regarding conditions of approval and proportionality of 
exactions. 

B. Acquisition by Public Agency.  If the developer is required to reserve land area 
for a park, playground, or other public use, the land shall be conveyed to a public 
agency or other entity approved by the city for management and maintenance 
within twelve (12) months of final plat approval, or the reservation shall be 
released to the property owner. 

C. System Development Charge Credit.  Dedication of land to the city for public 
use areas shall be eligible as a credit toward any required system development 
charge for parks, water, sewer, or storm water, as applicable. 

 
FINDING:   As proposed, no public use areas, including parks, open space, playground, public 
facility or other public use, are proposed to be dedicated as part of this subdivision.   

 
7. SECTION 3.5.130 SANITARY SEWER AND WATER SERVICE 

IMPROVEMENTS 
 
A. Sewers and Water Mains Required.  Sanitary sewers and water mains shall be 

installed to serve each new development and to connect developments to existing 
mains in accordance with the city’s construction specifications and the applicable 
comprehensive plan policies. 

B. Sewer and Water Plan Approval.  Development permits for sewer and water 
improvements shall not be issued until the city engineer has approved all sanitary 
sewer and water plans in conformance with city standards. 

C. Over-sizing.  Proposed sewer and water systems shall be sized to accommodate 
additional development within the area as projected by the comprehensive plan.  
The developer shall be entitled to system development charge credits for the over-
sizing. 

D. Permits Denied.  Development permits may be restricted by the city through 
moratoria, in conformance with ORS 197.505, where a deficiency exists in the 
existing water or sewer system that cannot be rectified by the development, and 
which if not rectified will result in a threat to public health or safety, surcharging 
of existing mains, or violations of county or federal standards pertaining to 
operation of domestic water and sewerage treatment systems. 

 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 21 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

FINDING:  The conditions of approval will require the applicant/property owner(s) to 
coordinate with Sutherlin Public Works for the design and installation of the required sanitary 
sewer and water service improvements. 

 
8. SECTION 3.5.140 STORM DRAINAGE 

 
A. General Provisions.  The city shall issue a development permit only where 

adequate provisions for storm water and flood water runoff have been made. 
B. Accommodation of Upstream Drainage.  Culverts and other drainage facilities 

shall be large enough to accommodate potential runoff from the entire upstream 
drainage area, whether inside or outside the development, in conformance with 
the city’s storm drainage master plan.  Such facilities shall be subject to review 
and approval by the city engineer. 

C. Effect on Downstream Drainage.  The effect on downstream drainage shall be 
evaluated in all project proposals, and all projects shall conform to the storm 
drainage master plan.  Where it is anticipated by the city that the additional runoff 
resulting from the development will overload an existing drainage facility, the city 
shall withhold approval of the development until provisions have been made for 
improvement of the potential condition or until provisions have been made for 
storage of additional runoff caused by the development in accordance with city 
standards. 

D. Easements.  Where a development is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, 
channel or stream, there shall be provided a storm water easement or drainage 
right-of-way provided for conveyance of storm water.  The easement shall be 
subject to review and approval by the city engineer and shall include at a 
minimum the watercourse and such further width as will be adequate for 
conveyance and maintenance. 

E. Certification of No Impact to Neighboring Property.  Developers shall submit 
a stamped certification by a licensed engineer stating that the rate of storm water 
drainage during and after development will not increase as a result of the 
proposed development.  The certification shall further state that the developer will 
adhere to all applicable storm drainage, grading, erosion, and sediment control 
requirements.  The city may impose conditions of approval and/or require 
submittal of engineered plans that demonstrate there will be no impact to 
neighboring properties 

 
FINDINGS:  Storm drainage must be evaluated as part of this development, including the effect 
on downstream drainage and the need for drainage easements/right-of-way for the conveyance of 
storm water.  The conditions of approval require the developer to submit a stamped certification 
by a licensed engineer stating that the rate storm water drainage during and after development 
will not increase as a result of the proposed development, as outlined above. 

 
9. SECTION 3.5.150 UTILITIES 

 
A. Underground Utilities. Except where above-ground utility lines already exist, all 

new or relocated utility lines including, but not limited to, those required for 
electric, communication, lighting and cable television services and related 
facilities shall be placed underground.  This requirement does not apply to surface 
mounted connection boxes and meter cabinets, temporary utility service facilities 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 22 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

during construction, and high capacity electric lines operating at fifty thousand 
(50,000) volts or above.  In order to facilitate underground placement of utilities 
as required by this section, the following additional standards apply to all new 
subdivisions: 
1. The developer shall make all necessary arrangements with the serving 

utility to provide the underground services.  Care shall be taken to ensure 
that all above ground equipment does not obstruct vision clearance areas 
for vehicular traffic (section 3.2); 

2. The city reserves the right to approve the location of all surface mounted 
facilities; 

3. All underground utilities, including sanitary sewers and storm drains 
installed in streets by the developer, shall be constructed prior to the 
surfacing of the streets; and 

4. Stubs for service connections shall be long enough to avoid disturbing the 
street improvements when service connections are made. 

B. Easements.  Easements shall be provided for all underground utility facilities. 
C. Exception to Under-Grounding Requirement.  Pursuant to a Type II process, 

an exception to the under-grounding requirement may be granted due to physical 
constraints, such as steep topography, sensitive lands (section 3.6), or existing 
development conditions. 

 
FINDING: The conditions of approval require the developer to provide and/or install 
underground utilities to serve the proposed lots, as outlined above, including any necessary 
utility easements.   

 
10. SECTION 3.5.160 EASEMENTS 

 
Easements.  Easements for sewers, storm drainage and water quality facilities, water 
mains, electric lines or other public utilities shall be dedicated on a final plat, or provided 
for in the deed restrictions.  See also, section 4.3 Development Review and Site Plan 
Review, and chapter 4.4 Land Divisions and Lot Line Adjustments.  The developer or 
applicant shall make arrangements with the city, the applicable district and each utility 
franchise for the provision and dedication of utility easements necessary to provide full 
services to the development.  The city's standard minimum width for public main line 
utility easements shall be fifteen (15) feet unless otherwise specified by the utility 
company, applicable district, or city engineer. 
 

FINDING: The conditions of approval require that any necessary easements for public utilities, 
as outlined above, be dedicated on the final plat or provided for in the deed restrictions.  

 
11. SECTION 3.5.170 CONSTRUCTION PLAN APPROVAL AND ASSURANCES 

 
Construction Plan Approval and Assurances.  No public improvements, including 
sanitary sewers, storm sewers, streets, sidewalks, curbs, lighting, parks, or other 
requirements shall be undertaken except after the plans have been approved by the city, 
permit fee paid, and permit issued.  The permit fee shall be set by city council.  The city 
may require the developer or subdivider to provide bonding or other performance 
guarantees to ensure completion of required public improvements.  See also, section 4.3 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 23 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

Development Review and Site Plan Review, and section 4.4 Land Divisions and Lot Line 
Adjustments. 

 
FINDING: The conditions of approval require that construction plan approval for the public 
improvements be undertaken as outlined above.  

 
12. SECTION 3.5.180 INSTALLATION 

 
A. Conformance Required.  Improvements installed by the developer either as a 

requirement of these regulations or at his/her own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of this chapter, approved construction plans, and to improvement 
standards and specifications adopted by the city. 

B. Adopted Installation Standards.  The city’s general engineering requirements 
and standard specifications and the Oregon Chapter A.P.W.A. standard 
specifications shall be a part of the city's adopted installation standard(s).  Where 
conflict occurs, the A.P.W.A standards shall prevail.  Other standards may also be 
required upon recommendation of the city engineer. 

C. Commencement.  Work shall not begin until the city has been notified in 
advance. 

D. Resumption.  If work is discontinued for more than one (1) month, it shall not be 
resumed until the city is notified. 

E. Engineer’s Certification and As-Built Plans.  A registered civil engineer (or as 
appropriate) licensed in Oregon shall provide written certification in a form 
required by the city that all improvements, workmanship and materials are in 
accord with current and standard engineering and construction practices, conform 
to approved plans and conditions of approval, and are of high grade, prior to city 
acceptance of the public improvements, or any portion thereof, for operation and 
maintenance.  The developer’s engineer shall also provide two (2) set(s) of “as-
built” plans, in conformance with the city engineer’s specifications, for permanent 
filing with the city. 

F. City Inspection.  Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to 
the satisfaction of the city.  The city may require minor changes in typical 
sections and details if unusual conditions arising during construction warrant such 
changes in the public interest.  Modifications requested by the developer shall be 
subject to review and approval under section 4.7, Modifications to Approved 
Plans and Conditions of Approval.  Any monuments that are disturbed before all 
improvements are completed by the subdivider shall be replaced prior to final 
acceptance of the improvements. 

 
FINDING: The conditions of approval require that improvements installed by the developer 
either as a requirement of these regulations or at his/her own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of Chapter 3 of the SDC, approved construction plans, and to improvement 
standards and specifications adopted by the city, as specified above.  

 
13. APPROVAL CRITERIA – TENTATIVE PLAN  
 
SECTION 4.4.140 Approval Criteria-Tentative Plan.  The city shall approve, approve with 
conditions or deny a tentative plan based on the following approval criteria: 
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 24 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

A. The proposed plat name is not already recorded for another subdivision, 
and satisfies the provisions of ORS Chapter 92; 

 
FINDING:  The City finds, according to the County Surveyor, that the proposed plat 
name (Comstock Subdivision) is not already recorded for another subdivision within the 
County, and satisfies the provisions of ORS Chapter 92.  

 
B. The proposed streets, roads, sidewalks, bicycle lanes, pathways, utilities, 
and surface water management facilities are laid out so as to uniformly transition 
to such facilities in existing or approved subdivisions and partitions on adjoining 
property as to width, general direction and in all other respects. 
 

FINDING:  The City finds the proposed street and its associated improvements are laid 
out so as to uniformly transition to adjoining property and the surrounding properties.  As 
proposed, the 21-lot subdivision will be developed in two phases.  The applicant/property 
owners will be required to improve the proposed street to City standards prior to final 
acceptance by the City.   
 

C. Lot Size and Residential Density.  The subdivision meets the lot size and 
residential density standards required by the zoning district (chapter 2). 

  
FINDING:  The City finds the R-2 residential lot size standards have been or will be 
met, as discussed earlier in this report.  The applicant is proposing the development of 21 
lots to be developed in two phases.   

 
D. When dividing a tract into large lots or parcels (i.e. greater than two times 
or 200 percent the minimum lot size allowed in the underlying zoning district, the 
lots parcels are of such size, shape and orientation as to facilitate future re-
division in accordance with the requirements of the zoning district and this code. 

 
FINDING:   As proposed, the subdivision will create 21 lots to be developed in two 
phases.  Upon completion of the development, there will not be sufficient area to permit 
further redevelopment of the parcels.  No redevelopment plan is required for this project.  

 
E. Block and lot standards.  All proposed blocks (i.e., one (1) or more lots 

bound by public streets), lots and parcels conform to the specific 
requirements below: 
1. All lots and blocks shall comply with the lot area, setback, and 

dimensional requirements of the applicable zoning district 
(chapter 2), and the standards of section 3.2 Access and 
Circulation, and the flag lot standards of section 3.2.110 (Q), if 
applicable. 

2. Setbacks shall be as required by the applicable zoning district 
(chapter 2). 

3. Every lot shall conform to the standards of section 3.2, Access and 
Circulation. 

4. The applicant may be required to install landscaping, walls, 
fences, or other screening as a condition of subdivision approval.  
See also, chapter 2 Zoning Districts, and section 3.3, Landscaping, 
Street Trees, Fences and Walls. 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 25 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

5. In conformance with the uniform fire code, a twenty (20) foot width 
fire apparatus access drive shall be provided to serve all portions 
of a building that are located more than one hundred fifty (150) 
feet from a public right-of-way or approved access drive.  See also, 
section 3.2 Access and Circulation. 

6. Where a common private drive is to be provided to serve more 
than one lot, a reciprocal easement which will ensure access and 
maintenance rights shall be recorded with the approved 
subdivision or partition plat and the county clerk’s reference 
number shown on the face of the plat. 

 
FINDING:  The City finds the proposal complies with the R-2 zoning development 
standards as described earlier in this report.  The applicant/property owners are 
requesting approval of a concurrent variance to road standards to extend the length of the 
dead-end street and still comply with Uniform Fire Code and City standards for the 
proposed street.   

 
E. Minimize Flood Damage.  All subdivisions and partitions shall be 
designed based on the need to minimize the risk of flood damage.  No new 
building lots shall be created entirely within a floodway.  All new lots shall be 
buildable without requiring development within the floodway.  Development in a 
one hundred (100) year flood plain shall comply with federal emergency 
management agency requirements, including filling to elevate structures above 
the base flood elevation.  The applicant shall be responsible for obtaining such 
approvals from the appropriate agency before city approval of the final plat. 

 
FINDING:  The City finds the subject property is not located in a designated flood plain, 
as indicated on the FEMA maps dated February 17, 2010. 

 
F. Determination of Base Flood Elevation.  Where a development site 
consists of ten (10) or more lots, or is located in or near areas prone to 
inundation, and the base flood elevation has not been provided or is not available 
from another authoritative source, it shall be prepared by a qualified 
professional, as determined by the Director. 

 
FINDING:  Although more than ten (10) lots are proposed, the City finds that the subject 
property is not located within a designated floodplain, as indicated on the FEMA maps 
dated February 17, 2010.   

 
G. Need for Adequate Utilities.  All lots created through land division shall 
have adequate public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and 
water systems located and constructed to prevent or minimize flood damage to the 
extent practicable. 

 
FINDING:  The City finds public and private utilities can be made available to the 
proposed lots. The subject property is not located in a designated floodplain.  

 
H. Need for Adequate Drainage.  All subdivision and partition proposals 
shall have adequate surface water drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood 
damage.  Water quality or quantity control improvements may be required. 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 26 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

FINDING:  The City finds that surface drainage and storm water will have to be 
addressed as part of the development of this subdivision, and the grading and 
construction of the proposed street.  The subject property is not located in a designated 
floodplain.   

 
I. Floodplain, Park, and Open Space Dedications.  Where land filling 
and/or development is allowed within or adjacent to the one hundred (100) year 
flood plain outside the zero-foot rise flood plain, and the comprehensive plan 
designates the subject flood plain for park, open space, or trail use, the City may 
require the dedication of sufficient open land area for a greenway adjoining or 
within the flood plain.  When practicable, this area shall include portions at a 
suitable elevation for the construction of a pedestrian/bicycle pathway within the 
flood plain in accordance with the city’s adopted trails plan or pedestrian and 
bikeway plans, as applicable.  The city shall evaluate individual development 
proposals and determine whether the dedication of land is justified based on the 
development’s impact to the park and/or trail system, consistent with section 3.5, 
and section 3.5.100.D in particular. 
 

FINDING:  The City finds the Sutherlin Comprehensive Plan does not designate the 
property as floodplain, or as a future park or open space development. The proposed lots 
are planned for single family residential development.   

 
K. Phased Development.  The city may approve a time schedule for 
developing a subdivision in phases, but in no case shall the actual construction 
time period (i.e., for required public improvements, utilities, streets) for any 
partition or subdivision phase be greater than two (2) years without reapplying 
for a tentative plan approval. The criteria for approving a phased land division 
proposal are: 
 

1. Public facilities shall be constructed in conjunction with or prior 
to each phase; 
2. The development and occupancy of any phase dependent on the 
use of temporary public facilities shall require city receipt of bonding or 
other assurances to cover the cost of required permanent public 
improvements, in accordance with Section 4.4.180.  A temporary public 
facility is any facility not constructed to the applicable city standard; 
3. The phased development shall not result in requiring the city or a 
third party (e.g., owners of lots) to construct public facilities that were 
required as part of the approved development proposal. 

 
FINDING:  As proposed, the applicant plans to develop the proposed 21-lot subdivision 
in two phase:  Phase 1 will be 9 lots with a temporary fire turn-around, and Phase 2 will 
be 12 lots with the remainder of the street, including the 40 foot radius circular cul-de-
sac.  The City finds that the proposed public facilities, including public water and sanitary 
sewer will be constructed in conjunction with or prior to each phase.  The City further 
finds that the development and occupancy of any phase dependent on the use of 
temporary public facilities shall require city bonding or other assurances to cover the cost 
of the required permanent public improvements, as outlined above, and shall comply with 
the bonding mechanisms provided in the SDC.  The City also finds that the phased 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 27 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

development shall not result in requiring the city or a third party (.e.g. owners of lots) to 
construct public facilities that were required as part of the approved development 
proposal.   

 
L. Lot Size Averaging.  The city may allow residential lots or parcels less 
than the minimum lot size under the applicable zoning district for projects that 
provide common open space or active recreation land and facilities.  Such open 
space shall provide public access easements containing paved trials.  The lot or 
parcel sizes shall meet the following: 

1. The average area for all residential lots or parcels shall not be less 
than that allowed by the underlying zone; and 
2. No lot or parcel created under this provision shall be less than 
eighty (80) percent of the minimum lot size allowed in the underlying zone.   
 For example, if the minimum lot size is seven thousand five 
hundred (7,500) square feet, the following three (3) parcels could be 
created as part of a single partition application: six thousand (6,000) 
square feet, seven thousand five hundred (7,500) square feet, and nine 
thousand (9,000) square feet. 

 
FINDING:  The City finds this criterion for lot averaging is not applicable because the 
subdivision will not create any lots less than the 6,000 sq.ft. minimum parcel size of the 
R-2 zone.   

 
M. Temporary Sales Office.  A temporary sales office in conjunction with a 
subdivision may be approved as set forth in section 4.10.100, Temporary Uses. 

 
FINDING:  The applicant/property owners have not requested a temporary sales office 

as part of their request. The City finds this criterion is not applicable.   
 

N. Conditions of Approval.  The city may attach such conditions as are 
necessary to carry out provisions of this code, and other applicable ordinances 
and regulations, and may require landscape screening between uses, or access 
reserve strips granted to the city for the purpose of controlling access to 
adjoining undeveloped properties.  See also, section 3.5.100.D (Infrastructure). 

 
FINDING:  The City finds there are conditions necessary to assure the land division is 
recorded in compliance with City requirements as stated in this report.  The conditions 
are listed below in the decision. 

 
Additional Criteria 
 
14. Site Analysis (Section 4.4.130.B.7):  Wetland and floodplain, including wetland areas, 

streams, wildlife habitat and other areas identified by the city or natural resource 
regulatory as requiring protection.   
 
FINDING:   Mapping from the City of Sutherlin shows that a portion of the subject 
property contains identified wetlands.  The wetlands appear to impact primarily Lot 6 and 
a portion of Lot 1.  Conditions of approval will require the development of the interior 
street (Robinson Street) and the installation of necessary utilities to be coordinated with 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 28 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

the Oregon Department of State Lands to address any necessary mitigation of wetlands 
on the subject property.  The applicant will be advised that prior to any structural 
development on either of the proposed lots, the applicant shall coordinate with the 
Oregon Department of State Lands to address any necessary mitigation of wetlands on 
the subject lots. 
 

4.4.160  Final Plat Submission Requirements and Approval Criteria.  
 

A. Submission Requirements.  Final plats shall be reviewed and approved 
by the city prior to recording with Douglas County.  The applicant shall submit 
the final plat within two (2) years of the approval of the tentative plan as provided 
by section 4.4.120.  Specific information about the format and size of the plat, 
number of copies and other detailed information can be obtained from the city. 
The city will not accept as complete an application for final plat until the tentative 
plan has been approved. 
B. Approval Criteria.  By means of a Type I procedure the director shall 
review the final plat and shall approve or deny the final plat based on findings 
regarding compliance with the following criteria: 

1. The final plat complies with the approved tentative plan, and all 
conditions of approval have been satisfied; 
2. All public improvements required by the tentative plan have been 
installed and approved by the planning director.  Alternatively, the 
developer has provided a performance guarantee in accordance with 
section 4.4.180; 
3. The streets and roads for public use are dedicated without 
reservation or restriction other than revisionary rights upon vacation of 
any such street or road and easements for public utilities; 
4. The streets and roads held for private use have been approved by 
the city as conforming to the tentative plan and, where applicable, the 
associated PUD; 
5. The plat contains a dedication to the public of all public 
improvements, including but not limited to streets, public pathways and 
trails, access reserve strips, parks, and sewage disposal, storm drainage, 
and water supply systems; 
6. The applicant has provided copies of all recorded homeowners 
association Codes, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&R’s), deed 
restrictions, private easements and agreements (e.g., for access, common 
areas, parking, etc.), and other recorded documents pertaining to common 
improvements recorded and referenced on the plat; 
7. Water and sanitary sewer service is available to each and every 
lot, is provided; or bond, contract or other assurance has been provided 
by the subdivider to the city that such services will be installed in 
accordance with section 3.5,  Infrastructure Standards, and the bond 
requirements of section 4.4.180.  The amount of the bond, contract or 
other assurance by the subdivider shall be determined by a registered 
professional engineer, subject to review and approval by the city; and 
8. The plat contains an affidavit by the surveyor who surveyed the 
land represented on the plat to the effect the land was correctly surveyed 
and marked with proper monuments as provided by ORS Chapter 92, and 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 29 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

indicating the initial point of the survey, and giving the dimensions and 
kind of such monument, and its reference to some corner established by 
the U.S. Geological Survey or giving two or more permanent objects for 
identifying its location. 

 
FINDING:  The City finds the applicant shall meet final plat submission requirements 
and approval criteria in the Sutherlin Development Code, Section 4.4.160 listed above.  
The applicant shall conform to all applicable requirements of Section 3.5 Infrastructure 
Standards of the Sutherlin Development Code. 

 
VARIANCE CRITERIA  
 
The proposed Variance to road standards is considered a Type III procedure for a Class C 
Variance, subject to the applicable criteria of Sutherlin Development Code, including Sections 
3.5.110.M [Cul-de-sacs standards] and 5.2.130 [Class C Variances].   
 
Based upon the application materials and information submitted by the applicant and other 
evidence provided, staff presents the following findings to address the applicable criteria: 
 
CUL-DE-SAC (DEAD-END STREETS) STANDARDS (SECTION 3.5.110.M) 
 

1. Section 3.5.110.M of the Sutherlin Development Code outlines standards for 
development of a cul-de-sac for dead-end streets in the City and states as follows:   

 
 Cul-de-sacs.  A dead-end street shall be no more than four hundred (400) feet 

long, and shall only be used when open space (e.g., street ends at park or 
greenway), environmental, or topographical constraints; existing development 
patterns; or compliance with other standards in this code preclude street 
extension and through circulation.  Such dead-end-street shall conform to all of 
the following standards: 
 
1. The city may require a dead-end or cul-de-sac street to stub to the outer 

property line of the development when future street extension may be 
possible through redevelopment of an adjacent property (e.g., existing 
development on adjacent property could redevelop and allow extension in 
foreseeable future).  

2. All cul-de-sacs exceeding one hundred fifty (150) feet shall terminate with 
a circular or hammer-head turnaround.  Circular turnarounds shall have 
a radius of no less forty (40) feet (i.e., from center to edge of pavement); 
except that turnarounds may be larger when they contain a landscaped 
island or parking bay in their center.  When an island or parking bay is 
provided, there shall be a fire apparatus lane of twenty (20) feet in width; 
and 

3. The length of the cul-de-sac shall be measured along the centerline of the 
roadway from the near side of the intersecting street to the farthest point 
of the cul-de-sac. 

 
2. The proposed residential street for the requested subdivision will be approximately 705 

feet in length, from its intersection with N. Comstock Rd to the west end of the cul-de-



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 30 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

sac.  It will exceed the maximum length of the dead-end street by 305± feet.  In addition, 
the circular turnaround (cul-de-sac) at the end of the street will have a radius of no less 
than 40 feet, which meets item 2 above, but does not conform to the Uniform Fire Code 
(UFC), which currently requires a radius of 48 feet.   
 

FINDING:  The applicant/property owner(s) have requested a variance to road standards to 
extend the length of the cul-de-sac.  As part of the requested variance, the applicant/property 
owner(s) are proposing to comply with the applicable UFC standards for the new residential 
street to serve the development, except for the proposed 40’ radius cul-de-sac. 
 
VARIANCE CRITERIA (CLASS C VARIANCE) 
 
3. The requested variance is subject to the applicable criteria of Section 5.2.130 of the 

Sutherlin Development Code for a Class C Variance.  The purpose of Section 5.2 
(Variances) is to provide flexibility to development standards, in recognition of the 
complexity and wide variation of site development opportunities and constraints.  The 
variance procedures are intended to provide flexibility while ensuring that the purpose of 
each development standard is met.   
 

4. Class C Variances (Section 5.2.130) may be granted if the applicant shows that, owing to 
special and unusual circumstances related to a specific property, the literal application of 
the standards of the applicable land use district would create hardship to development 
which is peculiar to the lot size or shape, topography, wetland and floodplain, or other 
similar circumstances related to the property over which the applicant has no control, and 
which is not applicable to other properties in the vicinity (e.g., the same land use district); 
except that no variances to “permitted uses” shall be granted.   
 

5. Section 5.2.130.B states the following for applicability: 
 

1. The variance standards are intended to apply to individual platted and 
recorded lots only.   

2. An applicant who proposes to vary a specification standard for lots yet to 
be created through a subdivision process may not utilize the Class C 
variance procedure. 

3. A variance shall not be approved which would vary the “permitted uses” 
of a zoning district (chapter 2). 

 
FINDING :  The City finds that the Class C variance is applicable to the proposed request 
to allow the length of the proposed dead-end street to be extended and meet Uniform Fire 
Code standards.  Section 5.2.120.C [Variances to Transportation Improvement 
Requirements (Section 3.5.100) states in part, that “When a variance request [to 
transportation improvements] cannot be supported by the provision of that Section 
[Section 3.5.110], then the request shall be reviewed as a Class C variance.” 
 

6. Pursuant to Section 5.2.130.C.1, the applicant has explained that the street is too long and 
that the variance is required to reasonably develop the subject property.  
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 31 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

7. Pursuant to Section 5.2.130.C.2, the City shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny 
an application for a variance based on finding that all of the following criteria are 
satisfied: 
 
a. The proposed variance will not be material detrimental to the purposes of this 

code, to any other applicable policies and standards, and to other properties in 
the same land use district or vicinity; 
 

i. To address this criterion, the applicant states:  
 

This variance is to extend the length of the cul-de-sac on Robinson Street 
beyond the maximum 400 feet.  The street will be constructed to 40 feet wide 
to City standards with two fire hydrants, one located approximately 250± feet 
from Comstock Street and the second located 280± feet from the first hydrant.  
All other policies and standards applicable to this R-2 zoned property were 
adhered to. 
 

FINDING:   The City finds that the proposed variance will not be materially detrimental to the 
purpose of the development code).  The applicant has coordinated the design of the proposed 
street with the City Public Works and the City Fire Department to ensure compliance with the 
Uniform Fire Code.  As designed, the roadway will consist of wider travel lanes (13 ft instead of 
10 ft) to accommodate fire apparatus, and no on-street side parking will be permitted in the cul-
de-sac.  The street will have 40 feet of pavement to travel lanes and on-street parking.  The City 
finds the variance, as proposed, will be consistent with the purposes of the Sutherlin 
Comprehensive Plan and its Development Code, and will not be materially detrimental to any 
property in the zone or vicinity.   

 
b. A hardship to development exists which is peculiar to the lot size or shape, 

topography, wetland and floodplain, or other similar circumstances related to the 
property over which the applicant has no control, and which are not applicable to 
other properties in the vicinity (e.g., the same land use district); 
 

i. To address this criterion, the applicant states: 
 

Alternative access was considered by the City, however none were deemed 
viable.  Extension of the street length is required to accommodate all of the 
lots and maximize the density of the 5.40 acres.  Existing wetlands on the East 
side of the property have been delineated and will be mitigated on the site 
where Lot 6 is located within the subdivision. 

 
FINDING:  The subject property is approximately 840± feet long by 275± feet wide.  The 
applicant is desiring to make reasonable use of the property to accommodate all the lots, but still 
address the existing wetlands located near N. Comstock Rd.  A dead-end street at the maximum 
length of 400 feet would not allow the applicant to maximize the density of the R-2 zoning on 
the property (up to 12 dwelling units per acre).  The City finds that a general hardship to 
development exists related to the property over which the applicant has no control. 
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 32 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

c. The use proposed will be the same as permitted under this title and city standards 
will be maintained to the greatest extent possible while permitting reasonable 
economic use of the land; 
 

i. To address this criterion, the applicant states: 
 

The new street will be improved to City standards with curb, gutter, sidewalk 
and on-street parking lanes.  The subject tract is 5.40 acres and 
approximately 840 feet in length.  This variance to extend the length of the 
cul-de-sac beyond the maximum 400 feet would allow for economic use of the 
entire tract.   
 

FINDING:   The applicant is requesting a variance to allow more economic use of the subject 
property.  He is asking to extend the length of the dead-end street by 305± feet in order to 
accommodate the development of the lots.  The proposed street will be constructed to meet or 
exceed City standards.  The City finds that the proposed variance to road standards will allow the 
applicant to make reasonable use of the land.  

 
d. Existing physical and natural systems, such as but not limited to traffic, drainage, 

natural resources, and parks will not be adversely affected any more than would 
occur if the development occurred as specified by the subject code standard; 

 
i. To address this criterion, the applicant states: 
 

None of the above items will be adversely affected by this variance.  Existing 
wetlands located adjacent and to the West of Comstock Street will be 
mitigated on site where Lot 6 is located.  Mitigation of the wetlands would 
remain the same regardless of the length of the road.  All other development 
codes and City standards will occur. 
 

FINDING :  The City finds the requested variance to lengthen the proposed street will not 
adversely affect traffic along the N. Comstock Rd, nor adversely impact drainage, natural 
resources or parks any more than would occur if the proposed street was built a maximum of 400 
feet long, as specified in the development code. 
 

e. The hardship is not self-imposed; and 
 

i. To address this criterion, the applicant states: 
 

The variance to lengthen the road will allow for reasonable economic use of 
the tract which is dictated by the shape and dimensions of the tract as well as 
existing wetlands.   
 

FINDINGS:  The subject 5.40 acre property is currently vacant and undeveloped.  The applicant 
is trying to make reasonable use of the property and still construct the new street to meet City 
standards and the Uniform Fire Code.  Under the City’s TSP, a planned collector street was 
originally proposed through the subject property to connect Myrtle Rd to W. Sixth Ave.  This 
street connection would have helped to alleviate traffic congestion from the commercial 
development along Myrtle Rd.  However, the 2009 IAMP for Exit 136 provided an alternate 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 33 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

access road that will connect Myrtle Rd to N. Comstock Rd.  With this development and the 
alternate provisions outlined in the IAMP, the proposed dead-end street will no longer need to 
provide connectivity to Myrtle Rd.  As a result, the commercial activity off Myrtle Rd will have 
an alternate means to access N. Comstock Rd and not have to travel through a residential 
subdivision.  The City finds the proposed variance is not the result of a self-imposed hardship. 
 

f. The variance requested is the minimum variance, which would alleviate the 
hardship. 
 
i. To address this criterion, the applicant states: 

 
Yes, the proposed length of road will accommodate all lots appropriately and 
allow for required fire code implementation and meet City standards. 
 

FINDING:   The City finds that the applicant is requesting a variance extend the length of the 
dead-end street by 305± feet in order to accommodate the development of the lots and make 
reasonable economic use of the property.  The proposed street will be constructed to meet or 
exceed City standards.   
 
ACTION ALTERNATIVES 
 
Based on the applicant’s findings, the city staff report and the testimony and evidence provided 
during the public hearing, the Planning Commission can close the public hearing and move to 
either: 
 
Action Alternative No. 1 Approve the requested Subdivision for 21-lots to be developed in 
two phases (Phase 1, 9 lots and Phase 2, 12 lots) and Variance to Road Standards on the subject 
5.40 acre property, subject to the following conditions 
 
1. The applicant shall submit a final Subdivision Plat which substantially conforms to the 

approved preliminary Plan in all aspects except as specifically conditioned by the 
Planning Commission, as well as the general standards and survey plat requirements 
prescribed by the Sutherlin Development Code.  Any alterations shall be reviewed by the 
Planning Department. 
 

2. The applicant shall meet all requirements of final plat submission and approval criteria in 
Section 4.4.160 of the Sutherlin Development Code.  Each phase is approved for a period 
of two (2) years, for a total of four (4) years for this approval, unless an extension to the 
applicable phase is granted pursuant to Section 4.4.120 of the SDC. 

 
3. In conjunction with Douglas County’s improvement project to upgrade N. Comstock Rd, 

the property owner(s) shall dedicate a strip of land along the frontage of N. Comstock Rd 
to the City.   
 

a. The final location of the land to be dedicated shall be determined by the City and 
Douglas County Public Works.   
 

b. The applicant/property owner(s) shall provide a title report showing clear title to 
the affected strip of land. 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 34 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

c. Prior to completion of the County road project, the developer shall install all 
underground utility connections and service lateral installations within N 
Comstock Rd. 

 
4. The property owner(s) shall improve and dedicate the required right-of-way for the 

interior subdivision street (58 foot right-of-way).  The design of the new street shall be 
modified to include two 13 ft travel lanes, two 7 ft parking lanes (except no parking is 
permitted within the circular turnaround), two 6 ft sidewalks and two 6 inch curbs.  The 
new street shall be designed, engineered and constructed in accordance with the standards 
of the Sutherlin Development Code.   
 

a. Prior to commencing excavation, site preparation or construction of the road, the 
applicant shall submit the design plan for the road, prepared by an Oregon 
Licensed Professional Engineer, to City Public Works for review for consistency 
with the City’s design standards. 
 

b. Superintendent of City Public Works may require additional information to ensure 
full compliance with design requirements. 

 
c. The applicant shall provide a title report showing clear title to the affected strip of 

land. 
 

5. For Phase 1 of the subdivision, the Developer shall install a temporary turnaround along 
the west boundary of Phase 1, as identified on the preliminary plat.   
 

6. For Phase 2 of the subdivision, the Developer shall install the circular turnaround for the 
dead-end  interior street, which shall have a minimum radius of 40 feet and shall comply 
with the following: 
 

a. Rolled or mountable curbs shall be provided within the circular turnaround. 
 
b. No on-street side parking shall be permitted within the circular turnaround and 

“No Parking” signs shall be installed.  
 

c. The Developer shall submit documentation from the City Fire Department that the 
required turnaround improvements have been installed and meet Fire Department 
standards.  

 
7. Prior to final plat approval developer shall provide detailed engineered construction plans 

to be approved by the City of Sutherlin prior to construction.  These plans include but are 
not limited to design of streets, water, sewer, storm water, grading, and erosion control. 
 

8. Prior to beginning construction the owner(s) of the subject property shall sign a 
Development Agreement with the City to complete approved improvements located in 
city right-of-way to city standards.  Prior to final plat approval the developer shall install 
all required improvements as directed by the City, or submit to the City an acceptable 
agreement for improvements and Irrevocable Letter of Credit or bond mechanism as 
specified in Section 4.3.170 of the Sutherlin Development Code. 
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 35 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

9. For development of the subdivision, the developer shall obtain CORPS/DSL permit 
approval to work in the wetland riparian area of the property prior to final plat approval.  
Developer shall comply with all requirements of the CORPS/DSL permits. 

 
10. Developer shall provide city standard fire hydrants at the locations, as indicated and 

approved by the City Fire Department to City standards. 
 

11. All utilities shall be designed per standards to be located underground, pursuant to 
Section 3.5.150 of the Sutherlin Development Code, unless a Type II permit for an 
exception is filed and approved. 
 

12. An alternate street name shall be proposed for the interior street.  The final street name of 
the subdivision shall be coordinated with and approved by the City of Sutherlin.  
 

13. Developer shall install street signs and mailboxes in accordance with city standards. 
Developer shall install streetlights in or near the subdivision per city street light policy 
(Resolution No. 2006-03). 
 

14. Any shared driveways shall be identified on the face of the final plat.  Developer shall 
provide and record on the plat any reciprocal access and maintenance agreements for any 
affected lots.  
 

15. Prior to submitting a final subdivision plat, the developer shall install an engineered, 
properly sized, and City approved storm drainage system that captures all street and 
rooftop runoff in the subdivision and pipes it into the existing storm drainage system.  
The subdivision’s storm sewer system shall be designed and constructed to accommodate 
the existing runoff volumes from the contributory slopes uphill of the subject property. 
 

16. Developer shall submit a stamped certification by a licensed engineer stating that the rate 
of storm water drainage during and after development will not increase as a result of the 
proposed development.  The certification shall further state that the developer will adhere 
to all applicable storm drainage, grading, erosion, and sediment control requirements.  
The City may impose conditions of approval and/or require submittal of engineered plans 
that demonstrate there will be no impact to neighboring properties. 
 

17. Developer shall obtain a 1200-C NPDES Storm Water Discharge Permit prior to 
construction as required by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. 
 

18. Developer shall coordinate with the City Public Works for the design and installation of 
water lines with valves and fire hydrants, and water meters at the property line to city 
standards. 
 

19. Developer shall coordinate with the City Public Works for the design and installation of 
sanitary sewer improvements to city standards. 
 

20. All necessary easements shall be shown and referenced on the final subdivision plat.  
Required recorded easements and agreements, reciprocal easements and maintenance 
agreements for the shared private drives, storm water drainage easements, public and 
private utility easements. 
 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 36 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

a. All easements outside of dedicated rights-of-way must be shown and described as 
to type and use on the face of the final plat. 

 
21. The approved subdivision shall be surveyed and monumented as required by ORS 

Chapter 92, and a final submission plat prepared for City signature.  The final plat shall 
comply with all applicable provisions of ORS Chapter 92, including the standards of 
ORS 92.050, the survey and monumenting provisions of ORS 92.060, and the declaration 
requirements of ORS 92.075.  The final subdivision plat shall bear the stamp and 
signature of the Professional Land Surveyor, and shall include a signature line for the 
Sutherlin Community Development Director and the Planning File Number. 
 

22. If any covenants are to be placed on the subdivision, the applicant shall provide a copy, 
including the volume and page(s) of the recording with Douglas County, to the City. The 
applicant shall place a reference on the final plat indicating any covenant restrictions 
governing the development of the proposed subdivision. 
 

23. An electronic copy (pdf) of recorded final subdivision plat, to include as-built drawings, 
shall be submitted to the Sutherlin Community Development Department within 10 days 
after recording.   
 

24. Subdivision plan or plat approval does not constitute home construction approval.  
Development of the site shall be subject to review and approval of the City of Sutherlin 
prior to commencing any home construction or site development work. 
 

25. Development of the property shall be subject to City of Sutherlin System Development 
Charges (SDCs), as well as applicable SDC credits, and such other permits and fees as 
may apply. 
 

26. Development of the subject property shall comply with state and federal environmental 
rules, regulations, and standards, and shall conform to all requirements of the Sutherlin 
Municipal Code. 

 
Insert condition re: letter from City Public Works that all required improvements have been 
installed to city standards… 
 
ADVISORY STATEMENTS 

 
27. For the development of the individual lots in each phase, developer must meet City of 

Sutherlin private driveway standards of twenty (20) feet improved surface. Driveways 
must maintain a minimum separation of 25 feet. 
 

28. At the time of a building permit proposal on any of the new parcels, the permit shall 
indicate compliance with Development Code Section 2.2 R-2 building setbacks and lot 
coverage requirements; and the driveway separation, surface improvement and storm 
water runoff requirements of Development Code Section 3.2.110 Vehicle Access and 
Circulation. 

 



 
HOUDE LIVING TRUST 37 DECEMBER 13, 2016 

a. Where a street or driveway is to be paved, the building permit application shall 
include provisions for on-site storm water collection or infiltration in accordance 
with city specifications.   

 
Action Alternative No. 2 Approve the requested Subdivision and Variance, subject to 
modifications or additional conditions of approval; 
 
Action Alternative No. 3 Continue the public hearing to a specified date and time, or to 
close the public hearing and to leave the record open to a specified date and time for submittal of 
additional evidence and rebuttal; or 
 
Action Alternative No. 4 Deny the requested Subdivision and Variance on the subject 
property on the grounds that the proposal does not satisfy the applicable approval criteria. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
City Staff recommends that the Planning Commission select Action Alternative No. 1 and 
APPROVE the requested application on the subject 5.40 acre property, subject to the conditions 
of approval.   
 
 
 





















FOR YOUR INFORMATION 
 

LAND USE ACTIVITY 

WORKSHEETS 

 

2016-60 849 Landing 

2016-61 895 Valley Vista 

2016-62 204 W Central 

2016-64 706 W Sixth  

2016-65 479 S State 

2016-66 778 Schoon Mountain 

2016-67 814 Schoon Mountain  

2016-68 240 W First  

2016-69 1300 Vantage 

 

 




















	12-20-2016 Agenda.pdf
	10-18-16 PC MINS.pdf
	10-18-16 Workshop PC MINS.pdf
	16-S014_HoudeLivingTrust_Sub&Var_PCstaff report.pdf
	16-S014_submitted comments.pdf
	16-S014_submitted PW comments.pdf
	16-012_leg amends PC memo&attachments.pdf
	FOR YOUR INFORMATION WORKSHEETS.pdf
	2016-60 849 Landing.pdf
	2016-61 895 Valley Vista.pdf
	2016-62 204 W Central.pdf
	2016-64 706 W Sixth.pdf
	2016-65 479 S State.pdf
	2016-66 778 Schoon Mountain Rd.pdf
	2016-67 814 Schoon Mountain Rd.pdf
	2016-68 240 W First Ave.pdf
	2016-69 1300 Vantage Ct.pdf



